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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ATLATSA RESOURCES CORPORATION

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Atlatsa Resources Corporation (the Group), which comprise 

• the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 

• the consolidated statements of comprehensive income for the years then ended 

• the consolidated statements of changes in equity for the years then ended 

• the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended 

• and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies 

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the 
Group as at December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows 
for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those  
standards are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our auditors’ report. 

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct 
for Registered Auditors (“IRBA Code”) and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements 
in South Africa and Canada. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance 
with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa and Canada. The IRBA Code is consistent with the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (Parts A and B).

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to Note 2 to the financial statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss for the year ended 
December 31, 2018 of $134.0 million and an operating cash flow shortfall of $20.9 million (2017: $314.5 million and $98.6 million, 
respectively) and as of that date, the Group’s total liabilities exceeded its total assets by $272.4 million (2017: $158.2 million). In the 
event that the Composite Transaction conditions precedent are not fulfilled by December 31, 2019, the Composite Transaction may 
not be completed as intended. In addition, the Group is dependent on Anglo American Platinum Limited’s continued funding of the 
care and maintenance costs and the Group’s overhead costs until completion of the Composite Transaction.

As stated in Note 2, these events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 2, indicate that a material uncertainty 
exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information comprises:

• the information included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis filed with the relevant Canadian Securities Commissions.

• the Annual Information Form (AIF).

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit and remain alert for indications that the other information appears to be materially misstated. 
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We obtained the information included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis filed with the relevant Canadian Securities Commissions 
as at the date of this auditors’ report. If, based on the work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact in the auditors’ report.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either 
intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform 
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by management.
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the 
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

• Provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group 
to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

KPMG Inc.
Registered Auditor
Per CH Basson (signed)
Chartered Accountant (SA)
Registered Auditor
Director

85 Empire Road 
Parktown 
Johannesburg 
2193 
South Africa

March 31, 2019

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this auditors’ report is CH Basson.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
as at  December 31, 2018 and 2017
(Presented in Canadian Dollars, unless otherwise stated) 

Note 2018 2017

ASSETS 
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 9 128,035,412 181,353,325
Intangible assets 10 143,245 188,113
Mineral property interests 11 2,839,155 2,931,384
Bokoni Environmental Rehabilitation Trust funds 12 4,906,571 5,078,658

Total non-current assets 135,924,383 189,551,480

Current assets
Inventories 13 – 400,167
Trade and other receivables 14 1,936,868 8,379,658
Cash and cash equivalents 16 1,247,768 2,139,348
Restricted cash 17 64,644 61,200
Asset held for sale 15 4,200,000 4,200,000

Total current assets 7,449,280 15,180,373

Total assets 143,373,663 204,731,853

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity 
Share capital 18 309,691,439 309,691,439
Treasury shares 18 (4,991,726) (4,991,726)
Fair value reserve 177,180,672 171,832,738
Foreign currency translation reserve (6,828,307) (10,393,921)
Share-based payment reserve 30,393,061 30,561,762
Accumulated loss (595,502,259) (501,451,058)

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company (90,057,120) (4,750,766)
Non-controlling interests 39 (182,370,218) (153,485,221)

Total equity (272,427,338) (158,235,987)

Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 19 47,400,000 306,459,624
Deferred tax liability 20 34,847,567 37,314,098
Rehabilitation provision 21 12,058,446 11,779,011

Total non-current liabilities 94,306,013 355,552,733

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 22 2,509,866 6,389,416
Restructuring provision 23 – 956,491
Short-term portion of loans and borrowings 19 318,985,122 69,200

Total current liabilities 321,494,988 7,415,107

Total liabilities 415,801,001 362,967,840

Total equity and liabilities 143,373,663 204,731,853

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Approved by the Board of Directors on March 31, 2019

Harold Motaung Fikile De Buck
(Director) (Director)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
(Presented in Canadian Dollars, unless otherwise stated) 

Note 2018 2017

Revenue 24 5,526,889 116,529,134
Cost of sales 25 (9,561,611) (180,332,136)

Gross loss (4,034,722) (63,803,002)
General and administrative expenses (5,074,800) (4,219,593)
Care and maintenance costs (43,324,088) –
Restructuring costs 23 (178) (33,859,355)
Rehabilitation provision adjustment 21 (198,180) 2,988,799
Impairment loss 9 (12,505,502) (180,918,162)
Other income 26 6,645 218,724

Operating loss (65,130,825) (279,592,589)
Finance income 27 231,537 359,271
Finance costs 28 (69,123,090) (43,012,194)

Net finance costs (68,891,553) (42,652,923)

Loss before income tax 29 (134,022,378) (322,245,512)

Income tax 30 (1,297) 7,725,949

Loss for the year (134,023,675) (314,519,563)

Other comprehensive income
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations 14,484,390 (3,042,410)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax 14,484,390 (3,042,410)

Total comprehensive income for the year (119,539,285) (317,561,973)

Loss attributable to:
Owners of the parent (94,051,201) (198,630,402)
Non-controlling interests (39,972,474) (115,889,161)

Loss for the year (134,023,675) (314,519,563)

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the parent (90,654,288) (196,803,207)
Non-controlling interests (28,884,997) (120,758,766)

Total comprehensive income for the year (119,539,285) (317,561,973)

Basic loss per share 31 (17 cents) (36 cents)
Diluted loss per share 31 (17 cents) (36 cents)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Share capital Treasury shares

Number  
of shares Amount

Number  
of shares Amount

Foreign currency 
translation reserve

Fair value  
reserve

Share-based 
payment reserve

Accumulated  
loss

Total  
shareholders’ 

equity
Non-controlling 

interests
Total  

equity

Balance at December 31, 2016 554,421,806 309,691,439 4,497,062 (4,991,726) (12,136,149) 81,763,604 29,919,081 (302,820,656) 101,425,593 (32,726,455) 68,699,138

Loss for the year – – – – – – – (198,630,402) (198,630,402) (115,889,161) (314,519,563)
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax – – – – 1,742,228 – 84,967 – 1,827,195 (4,869,605) (3,042,410)

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – 1,742,228 – 84,967 (198,630,402) (196,803,207) (120,758,766) (317,561,973)

Transactions with owners, recognised directly in equity
Contributions by and distributions to owners

Modification of certain loan terms with shareholders 
accounted for in equity – – – – 79,588,910 – – 79,588,910 – 79,588,910
Fair value adjustment on loan facility with shareholders 
accounted for in equity – – – – – 10,480,224 – – 10,480,224 – 10,480,224
Share-based payments expense – – – – – – 557,714 – 557,714 – 557,714

Total contributions by and distributions to owners – – – – – 90,069,134 557,714 – 90,626,848 – 90,626,848

Balance at December 31, 2017 554,421,806 309,691,439 4,497,062 (4,991,726) (10,393,921) 171,832,738 30,561,762 (501,451,058) (4,750,766) (153,485,221) (158,235,987)

Loss for the year (94,051,201)  (94,051,201) (39,972,474) (134,023,675) 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax – – – – 3,565,614 – (168,701) – 3,396,913 11,087,477 14,484,390 

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – 3,565,614 – (168,701) (94,051,201) (90,654,288) (28,884,997) (119,539,285) 

Transactions with owners, recognised directly in equity
Contributions by and distributions to owners
Fair value adjustment on loan facility with shareholders 
accounted for in equity – – – – – 5,347,934 – – 5,347,934 – 5,347,934

Total contributions by and distributions to owners – – – – – 5,347,934 – – 5,347,934 – 5,347,934

Balance at December 31, 2018 554,421,806 309,691,439 4,497,062 (4,991,726) (6,828,307) 177,180,672 30,393,061 (595,502,259) (90,057,120) (182,370,218) (272,427,338) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
(Presented in Canadian Dollars, unless otherwise stated) 
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Share capital Treasury shares

Number  
of shares Amount

Number  
of shares Amount

Foreign currency 
translation reserve

Fair value  
reserve

Share-based 
payment reserve

Accumulated  
loss

Total  
shareholders’ 

equity
Non-controlling 

interests
Total  

equity

Balance at December 31, 2016 554,421,806 309,691,439 4,497,062 (4,991,726) (12,136,149) 81,763,604 29,919,081 (302,820,656) 101,425,593 (32,726,455) 68,699,138

Loss for the year – – – – – – – (198,630,402) (198,630,402) (115,889,161) (314,519,563)
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax – – – – 1,742,228 – 84,967 – 1,827,195 (4,869,605) (3,042,410)

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – 1,742,228 – 84,967 (198,630,402) (196,803,207) (120,758,766) (317,561,973)

Transactions with owners, recognised directly in equity
Contributions by and distributions to owners

Modification of certain loan terms with shareholders 
accounted for in equity – – – – 79,588,910 – – 79,588,910 – 79,588,910
Fair value adjustment on loan facility with shareholders 
accounted for in equity – – – – – 10,480,224 – – 10,480,224 – 10,480,224
Share-based payments expense – – – – – – 557,714 – 557,714 – 557,714

Total contributions by and distributions to owners – – – – – 90,069,134 557,714 – 90,626,848 – 90,626,848

Balance at December 31, 2017 554,421,806 309,691,439 4,497,062 (4,991,726) (10,393,921) 171,832,738 30,561,762 (501,451,058) (4,750,766) (153,485,221) (158,235,987)

Loss for the year (94,051,201)  (94,051,201) (39,972,474) (134,023,675) 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax – – – – 3,565,614 – (168,701) – 3,396,913 11,087,477 14,484,390 

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – 3,565,614 – (168,701) (94,051,201) (90,654,288) (28,884,997) (119,539,285) 

Transactions with owners, recognised directly in equity
Contributions by and distributions to owners
Fair value adjustment on loan facility with shareholders 
accounted for in equity – – – – – 5,347,934 – – 5,347,934 – 5,347,934

Total contributions by and distributions to owners – – – – – 5,347,934 – – 5,347,934 – 5,347,934

Balance at December 31, 2018 554,421,806 309,691,439 4,497,062 (4,991,726) (6,828,307) 177,180,672 30,393,061 (595,502,259) (90,057,120) (182,370,218) (272,427,338) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Note 2018 2017

Cash Flows from operating activities
Loss before income tax (134,022,378) (322,245,512)
Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows:
Finance costs 69,123,090 43,012,194
Finance income (231,537) (359,271)
Depreciation and amortisation 29,480,577 23,621,935
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 12,505,502 180,918,162
Share-based compensation – 557,715
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 7,195
Rehabilitation adjustment 198,180 (2,988,799)
Restructure provision adjustments 178 33,859,355
Impairment of receivables – 1,126,409

Cash utilised by operations before ESOP transactions (22,946,388) (42,490,617)
ESOP cash transactions (restricted cash) 7,776 36,147

Cash utilised by operations before working capital changes (22,938,612) (42,454,470)
Working capital changes
Decrease in trade and other receivables 6,110,805 4,531,990
Decrease in trade and other payables (3,617,406) (21,725,277)
Decrease in inventories 388,065 15,466

Cash utilised by operations (20,057,148) (59,632,291)
Interest received 53,856 180,714
Interest paid 28 (610) (132)
Restructuring costs paid 23 (927,742) (33,590,552)
Rehabilitation payments 21 – (5,543,403)

Net cash flows used in operating activities (20,931,644) (98,585,664)

Cash flows from investing activities
Contribution to Bokoni Environmental Rehabilitation Trust 12 – (240,869)
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 9 – (5,525)
Expenditures on capital work-in-progress – (40,308,140)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 5,863

Net cash flows used in investing activities – (40,548,671)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from loans and borrowings 19 23,312,296 134,665,565
Payment of loans and borrowings 19 (2,892,374) –

Net cash flows from financing activities 20,419,922 134,665,565

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (511,722) (4,468,770)
Cash and cash equivalents at January 1 2,139,348 5,650,751
Effect of foreign currency translation (379,858) 957,367

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31 16 1,247,768 2,139,348

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF CASH FLOWS  
for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
(Presented in Canadian Dollars, unless otherwise stated) 
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
Atlatsa Resources Corporation (“the Company” or “Atlatsa”) is incorporated in the Province of British Columbia, Canada. The 
Company has a primary listing on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) and has a secondary listing on the JSE Limited (“JSE”). During 
the 2016 financial year, the Company announced its intention to terminate the registration of its common shares under Section 12(g) 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“the Exchange Act”), and its reporting obligations. On October 8, 2016, the 
deregistration of the Company’s common shares was affected.

The consolidated financial statements comprise of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group” and 
individually as “Group entities”). The Group’s principal business activity is the mining and exploration of Platinum Group Metals (“PGM”) 
through its mineral property interests. The Company focuses on mineral property interests located in the Republic of South Africa in 
the Bushveld Complex. Atlatsa operates in South Africa through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Plateau Resources Proprietary Limited 
(“Plateau”) which owns the Group’s various mineral property interests and conducts the Group’s business in South Africa. 

2. GOING CONCERN
The Group incurred a net loss for the year ended December 31, 2018 of $134.0 million and an operating cash flow shortfall of 
$20.9 million (2017: $314.5 million and $98.6 million, respectively) and as of that date, the Group’s total liabilities exceeded its total 
assets by $272.4 million (2017: total liabilities exceeded total assets by $158.2 million). As a result of these factors, management 
considered whether the going concern assumption continued to be appropriate at December 31, 2018.

The loss for the period is primarily as a result of the Group’s operating mine (“Bokoni Mine”) being placed on care and maintenance as 
of October 1, 2017 and the resulting impact this had on the profitability and the impairment loss of $12.5 million (2017: $180.9 million) 
relating to property, plant and equipment (refer note 9). 

The Restructuring Plan 

On July 21, 2017, the Group announced that it had entered into an agreement with Anglo American Platinum Limited (“AAP” or “Anglo 
American Platinum”), a related party, outlining key terms agreed in relation to a two-phased restructuring plan for the Group (the 
“Restructuring Plan”), comprising:

• a care and maintenance strategy for Bokoni Mine, (“Phase 1”); and

– Atlatsa to place the Bokoni Mine on care and maintenance; 

– Anglo American Platinum to fund all costs associated with the care and maintenance process up until December 31, 2019; and 

– Anglo American Platinum to suspend servicing and repayment of all current and future debt owing by the Group until December 
31, 2019 (“Debt Standstill”).; and 

• a financial restructuring plan (“Phase 2”) for the Group pursuant to which, inter alia:

– Rustenburg Platinum Mines Limited (“RPM”), related party and significant shareholder of Atlatsa and a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of AAP, will acquire and include into its adjacent Northern Limb mining rights, the resources specified in Group’s Kwanda North 
and Central Block prospecting rights, for a cash consideration of $28.4 million (ZAR300 million) (“Prospecting Rights Disposition”) 
(refer note 15);

– subject to implementation of the Prospecting Rights Disposition, RPM will capitalise and/or write-off all debt owing by the Group, 
directly or indirectly, to RPM, including any current and further debt that may be incurred during the care and maintenance period 
of Bokoni Mine until December 31, 2019 (“RPM Debt Write-Off”) and; 

– Atlatsa and RPM will retain their 51% and 49% respective shareholdings in the Bokoni Mine joint venture.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
(Presented in Canadian Dollars, unless otherwise stated) 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017 9



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued 
for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
(Presented in Canadian Dollars, unless otherwise stated) 

2. GOING CONCERN continued

Following the announcement of December 12, 2019, Phase 2 has been incorporated into the Composite Transaction discussed below.

Bokoni Mine care and maintenance and Debt Standstill

Bokoni Mine was placed on care and maintenance as of October 1, 2017. The process entailed the following:

• Ceasing all mining and concentrating activities;

• Conclusion of a Section 189A retrenchment process including all staff and personnel on the mine; and

• Care and maintenance team established to execute the care and maintenance strategy at the mine until December 31, 2019.

Anglo American Platinum has agreed to fund, directly or indirectly, via a loan account to Bokoni Mine, 51% of all one-off costs 
associated with placing Bokoni Mine on care and maintenance, as well as ongoing care and maintenance costs, up until December 
31, 2019. The remaining 49% of these one-off and ongoing care and maintenance costs will be made available by Anglo American 
Platinum in accordance with the existing shareholders’ agreement. 

Anglo American Platinum has agreed to suspend servicing and repayment of all current and future debt incurred by the Group and 
owing to Anglo American Platinum and its related entities until December 31, 2019 (“Debt Standstill Period”). 

Atlatsa has also, consequently, restructured its corporate head office and associated overhead costs, in order to maintain a business 
which will hold a single asset on care and maintenance, including reviewing the sustainability of its listings on various stock exchanges 
(refer to the Composite Transaction below). These costs (“overhead costs”) will also be funded by Anglo American Platinum as agreed 
in the Letter Agreement until December 31, 2019.

The care and maintenance, as well as the overhead costs’ budgets have been approved by Anglo American Platinum; and a care and 
maintenance term loan facility was signed between the relevant parties on October 12, 2017 in order to fund these budgeted costs.

The Composite Transaction

On December 12, 2018, the Company announced a comprehensive restructuring and going private transaction whereby it had 
entered into a suite of transaction agreements dated December 11, 2018 with, inter alia, RPM and Atlatsa Holdings Proprietary 
Limited (“ATH”), Atlatsa’s majority shareholder, outlining the terms and conditions of a Composite Transaction (as defined below) to be 
implemented by way of a Canadian court-approved plan of arrangement (“Plan of Arrangement”) under section 288 of the Business 
Corporations Act (British Columbia).

Atlatsa is seeking to implement the following inter-conditional transactions (collectively, the “Composite Transaction”) by way of a Plan 
of Arrangement: 

• the Prospecting Rights Disposition (as discussed under the Restructuring Plan above);

• the Buy-Back: the privatisation of Atlatsa through a compulsory repurchase, by the Company, for cancellation of all common shares 
held by: (a) the Company’s minority shareholders, being all of the shareholders, excluding ATH, RPM, the trustees for the time being 
of the Anooraq Community Participation Trust and the trustees for the time being of the Bokoni Platinum Mine ESOP Trust , for a 
cash consideration of R1.00 ($0.09) per Common Share (Share Cash-Out Consideration); and (b) RPM for an aggregate nominal 
cash consideration of R1.00 (C$0.09) (collectively, the “Buy-Back”); 

• the Tender Option: Atlatsa will make a tender offer to purchase for cancellation any or all of the Common Shares held by the 
Community Trust in exchange for the Share Cash-Out Consideration for each common share so tendered (“Tender Option”);

• the RPM Debt Write-Off (as discussed under the Restructuring Plan above); and

• the ATH Debt Write-Off: RPM will write-off all debt owing by ATH to it in exchange for ATH remaining as Atlatsa’s controlling 
shareholder immediately after the Composite Transaction (“ATH Debt Write-Off”).

Subject to and following completion of the Composite Transaction, and in view of the costs and onerous administration of maintaining 
a listing on two international exchanges, the Company intends to apply to the applicable securities authorities to have its common 
shares delisted from the Toronto Stock Exchange and the exchange operated by the JSE Limited and to cease to be a reporting issuer 
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in each of the provinces of Canada in which it is currently a reporting issuer. Atlatsa will become a private company with ATH continuing 
to hold a controlling interest in Atlatsa. The Buy-Back provides minority shareholders with a liquidity event and an opportunity to realise 
value for their common shares. 

Conditions precedent to the Composite Transaction

On December 12, 2018 the Department of Mineral Resources of South Africa granted approval and consent for the Prospecting 
Rights Disposition in terms of sections 11 and 102 of the South African Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development Act, No. 28 
of 2002.

The Composite Transaction remains subject to the fulfilment, satisfaction or waiver (to the extent permitted) of, inter alia, the following 
suspensive conditions:

• approval from the exchange control authorities of the South African Reserve Bank for the transactions contemplated in the Plan of 
Arrangement, either unconditionally or subject to such conditions as Atlatsa confirms to RPM in writing to be acceptable to Atlatsa; 

• the required Shareholder approvals being obtained;

• the Supreme Court of British Columbia granting the final order, and in the event of an appeal or application for leave to appeal, final 
determination shall have been made by the applicable appellate court; and

• other conditions to effectiveness typical for a transaction of this nature. 

Facilities with Anglo American Platinum

As at December 31, 2018, the Group has contractual loans repayable to Anglo American Platinum and its related entities of $440.2 
million (ZAR4,643.3 million). In order to facilitate the implementation and execution of the Restructuring Plan and the Composite 
Transaction, Anglo American Platinum made the following facilities available:

Care and Maintenance Term Loan Facility

The Care and Maintenance Term Loan Facility of $49.4 million (ZAR521 million) was entered on October 12, 2017, to allow the Group 
to fund its share of all costs associated with the care and maintenance process as mentioned in Phase 1. As at the reporting date, 
drawdowns of $43.1 million (ZAR454.8 million) have been made against the facility, the majority of which were used to fund the section 
189A retrenchment costs. The remaining facility may not be sufficient to cover the budgeted care and maintenance costs and the 
Atlatsa corporate head office and associated overhead costs for 2019. As a result, management has started a process to negotiate 
an extension of the facility, given Anglo American Platinum’s agreement to fund such costs up until December 31, 2019. 

Transaction Cost Facility

The Transaction Cost Facility of $4.7 million (ZAR50.0 million) was entered into on April 16, 2018 to allow the Group to fund the costs 
of implementing Phase 2. As at December 31, 2018 drawdowns of $2.4 million (ZAR25.6 million) have been made against the facility. 
Repayment relating to VAT refunds on the transaction costs of $0.2 million (ZAR1.9 million) have been made in terms of the Transaction 
Cost Facility as at December 31, 2018.

Debt Standstill 

As described in under Phase 1, “Debt Standstill” above, all debt facilities currently in use and to be used in future are included in the 
Debt Standstill, and all repayment terms and conditions connected to these facilities have been suspended until December 31, 2019.

Funding beyond December 31, 2019

Following the successful completion of the Composite Transaction, Atlatsa will fund its 51% share of the care and maintenance 
costs from the net proceeds from the Prospecting Rights Disposition while the Bokoni Mine shareholders will continue to review 
various alternatives in respect of the mine’s future sustainability and revisit its care and maintenance status, depending on future 
circumstances. Based on current forecasts, the Group expects that it will have sufficient cash flows to fund its share of the costs 
during 2020. 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017 11



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued 
for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
(Presented in Canadian Dollars, unless otherwise stated) 

2. GOING CONCERN continued

Going concern conclusion 

The directors of the Group believe that with the Debt Standstill and Anglo American Platinum’s undertaking (Phase 1) to fund all one-off 
and ongoing costs associated with placing Bokoni Mine on care and maintenance until December 31, 2019 and the Group’s overhead 
costs together with the Group’s expectation that the Composite Transaction will be concluded with the Group receiving proceeds 
of $28.4 million (ZAR300 million), the Group will be able to settle its liabilities as and when they fall due. Accordingly, the financial 
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

In the event that the Composite Transaction conditions, as set out above, are not met by December 31, 2019 or Anglo American 
Platinum deciding not to fund the care and maintenance costs and the Group’s overhead costs, the Group may not have the ability to 
discharge its liabilities as and when they fall due during 2019 and beyond December 31, 2019. This condition gives rise to a material 
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the ability to continue as a going concern.

Atlatsa and Anglo American Platinum are proactively pursuing the fulfilment of the remaining conditions precedent to the Composite 
Transaction which have not yet been fulfilled as at the date of approval of these financial statements.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
3.1 Overview

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Group’s 
board of directors on March 31, 2019.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis as set out in the accounting policies below. 
Certain items are stated at fair value and indicated where applicable. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian 
dollars (“$”), and all values are rounded to the nearest dollar, except where otherwise stated. 

3.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended December 31, 
2018. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the 
Group has the following:

•  Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee);

•  Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

•  The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting, or similar, rights of an investee, it considers all relevant facts and circumstances 
in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

• The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee;

• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

• The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the 
three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group 
loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (“OCI”) are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the Group and to 
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made 
to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intragroup assets and 
liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and the accompanying 
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed and are based on management’s experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Uncertainty about these 
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities 
affected in future periods. 

In particular, the Group has identified a number of areas where significant estimates and assumptions are required. Further information 
on each of these areas and how they impact various accounting policies are either described within the associated accounting policy 
note (note 6) or are described on the following page.

These include:

Estimates and assumptions:

• Ore reserve and mineral resource estimates (i)

• Mine rehabilitation (ii)

• Recoverability/impairment of assets (iii)

• Fair value measurements (iv)

• Contingencies (v)

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described 
below or in the related accounting policy note (see list above for references). The Group based its assumptions and estimates on 
parameters available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about 
future developments, however, may change due to market change or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group. Such 
changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

(i) Ore reserve and mineral resource estimates

Ore reserves and mineral resource estimates are estimates of the amount of ore that can be economically and legally extracted from 
the Group’s mining properties. Such reserves and mineral resource estimates and changes to these may impact the Group’s reported 
financial position and results, in the following way:

• The carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets; mine properties; property, plant and equipment may be affected due to 
changes in estimated future cash flows

• Depreciation and amortisation charges in profit or loss may change where such charges are determined using the unit-of-production 
method, or where the useful life of the related assets change

• Provisions for rehabilitation and environmental provisions may change where reserve estimate changes affect expectations about 
when such activities will occur and the associated cost of these activities

• The recognition and carrying value of deferred income tax assets may change due to changes in the judgements regarding the 
existence of such assets and in estimates of the likely recovery of such assets

The Group estimates its ore reserves and mineral resources based on information compiled by appropriately qualified persons relating 
to the geological and technical data on the size, depth, shape and grade of the ore body and suitable production techniques and 
recovery rates. Such an analysis requires complex geological judgements to interpret the data. The estimation of recoverable reserves 
and resources is based upon factors such as estimates of foreign exchange rates, commodity prices, future capital requirements and 
production costs, along with geological assumptions and judgements made in estimating the size and grade of the ore body. Due to 
the mine being placed on care and maintenance during October 2017 there is no mineral reserve estimate as all previously declared 
reserves were reclassified to resources as at December 31, 2017.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS continued

The Group estimates and reports mineral resources in line with the principles contained in the “SAMREC” of 2016, known as the 
“SAMREC Code”. 

As the economic assumptions used may change and as additional geological information is produced during the operation of a mine, 
estimates of reserves and mineral resources may change.

(ii) Mine rehabilitation

The ultimate rehabilitation costs are uncertain, and cost estimates can vary in response to many factors, including estimates of the 
extent and costs of rehabilitation activities, technological changes, regulatory changes, cost increases as compared to the inflation 
rates (5.5% (2017: 5.5%)), and changes in discount rates (8.9% (2017: 8.6%)). These uncertainties may result in future actual 
expenditure differing from the amounts currently provided. Therefore, significant estimates and assumptions are made in determining 
the provision for mine rehabilitation. As a result, there could be significant adjustments to the provisions established which would affect 
future financial result. 

The provision at reporting date represents management’s best estimate of the present value of the future rehabilitation costs required.

(iii) Recoverability/impairment of assets

The Group assesses each cash-generating unit (“CGU”) annually to determine whether any indication of impairment exists. Where 
an indicator of impairment exists, a formal estimate of the recoverable amount is made, which is considered to be the higher of the 
fair-value-less-costs-of-disposal (“FVLCOD”) and value in use. Management has historically assessed its CGU as being the Bokoni 
Mine, which is the lowest level for which cash flows are largely independent of other assets. Due to the Bokoni Mine being placed 
on care and maintenance, the Group’s CGU will no longer be generating future revenues, and therefore it is no longer recognised as 
a CGU. As a result, impairment assessments have been performed on an individual asset basis where the recoverable amount has 
been based on the FVLCOD of each asset. 

The Group engaged a third-party valuator to assist in determining the FVLCOD taking into account the physical condition and 
operation status of each asset in a care and maintenance situation. For the mineral right assets, the third party valuator also assisted, 
and the FVLCOD was determined using a market approach based on comparable transactions of similar assets.

(iv) Fair value measurements

The Group measures financial instruments at fair value on initial recognition. Also, from time to time, the fair values of non-financial 
assets and liabilities are required to be determined, e.g. when the entity acquires a business, or where an entity measures the 
recoverable amount of an asset or CGU at fair-value-less-costs-of-disposal.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by 
using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and 
best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data is available to measure 
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Changes in estimates and 
assumptions about these inputs could affect the reported fair value.

Loan agreements with Rustenburg Platinum Mines Limited (“RPM”), a related party

Management has applied judgement when determining the fair value on initial recognition for the loan agreements with RPM. The fair value 
of the loans on initial recognition is determined using a cash flow valuation model. The significant inputs into the model are the opening 
balances as contractually agreed with the counterparty, set interest rates applicable to the Company, projected drawdowns and repayments 
on the loan and projected forward Johannesburg Interbank Agreed Rate (“JIBAR”) rates plus a market related spread (currently 1400 bps) 
which represents management’s best etsimate of Atlatsa’s credit risk. Based on the cash flow valuation model, an effective interest rate was 
established on initial recognition that would be used to build the loan back up to contractual value by date of payment. 
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(v) Contingencies

By their nature, contingencies will be resolved only when one or more uncertain future events occur or fail to occur. The assessment 
of the existence and potential quantum of contingencies inherently involves the exercise of significant judgement and the use of 
estimates regarding the outcome of future events.

5. CHANGES IN SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
Adoption of new standards

The accounting policies applied by the Group in these consolidated financial statements are the same as those applied by the Group 
in its consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2017 except for the adoption of new standards 
as described below. 

The Group has initially adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 15”), and IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
(“IFRS 9”) from January 1, 2018. A number of other new standards are effective January 1, 2018 but they do not have a material effect 
on the Group’s financial statements. 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is recognised and it replaced 
IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and related interpretations. 

The Group adopted IFRS 15 using the cumulative effect method (without practical expedients), with the effect of initially applying this 
standard at the date of initial application (i.e. January 1, 2018). Accordingly, the information presented for 2017 has not been restated 
– i.e. it is presented as previously reported under IAS 18, IAS 11 and related interpretations. 

The Group had one contract with a customer on adoption date. Management assessed this contract and concluded that the contract 
contained one performance obligation which would be recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the goods 
transferred which is on delivery. Under IAS 18, revenue was also recognised on delivery of goods. As a result, there was no impact on 
the financial statements as a result of adopting this standard. 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

IFRS 9 arises from a three-part project to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”).

IFRS 9 addresses the classification, measurement and derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities, introduces new rules 
for hedge accounting, and a new impairment model for financial assets.

On January 1, 2018, the Group adopted IFRS 9, which replaces the provisions of IAS 39 that relate to the recognition, classification 
and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, derecognition of financial instruments, impairment of financial assets and 
hedge accounting. 

Refer to notes 6.2 and 6.7 for details around the revised accounting policies relating to the measurement and classification of financial 
assets and liabilities. The changes however had no impact on the financial statements as a result of adopting this standard. 

Standards issued but not yet effective

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Group’s condensed 
consolidated financial statements are disclosed below:

Effective for the financial year commencing January 1, 2019:

• IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

• IFRS 16 Leases 

Effective for the financial year commencing January 1, 2020:

• Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards
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5. CHANGES IN SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES continued

Standards issued but not yet effective continued

All Standards and Interpretations will be adopted at their effective date, if applicable.

Management has assessed the impact of the above-mentioned standards, and do not believe that there will be a significant impact to 
the financial statements given the current care and maintenance phase of Bokoni Mine.

6. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
6.1 Foreign currencies 

(i) Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at exchange rates at the 
date of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to the 
functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between 
amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the year, and 
the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the year. Such gains and losses are recognised 
in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are translated to the functional 
currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are 
measured in terms of historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences 
arising on translation are recognised in profit or loss. 

(ii) Foreign operations

The financial results of Group entities that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the 
presentation currency. The presentation currency of the Company is Canadian Dollars. Income and expenditure transactions of foreign 
operations are translated at the average rate of exchange for the year except for significant individual transactions which are translated 
at the rate of exchange in effect at the transaction date. All assets and liabilities, including fair value adjustments and goodwill arising 
on acquisition, are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. 

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the foreign currency translation reserve 
(“FCTR”) in equity. However, if the foreign operation is a non-wholly owned subsidiary, then the relevant proportion of the translation 
difference is allocated to non-controlling interests.

When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable 
future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary item are considered to form part of the net investment in a 
foreign operation and are recognised in other comprehensive income and are included in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On disposal of part or all the operations, such that control, significant influence or joint control is lost, the proportionate share of the 
related cumulative gains and losses previously recognised in the FCTR through the other income are included in determining the profit 
or loss on disposal of that operation recognised in profit or loss.

6.2 Financial instruments

(i) Financial assets – policy applicable from January 1, 2018

Financial assets – policy applicable from January 1, 2018

Trade receivables are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial assets are initially recognised when the Group 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without significant financing component) is initially measured at fair value plus, for an 
item not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade 
receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price.
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On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; FVOCI – debt investment; FVOCI – equity 
investment; or FVTPL.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its business model for managing 
financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the 
change in the business model.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

• it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and

• its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

The Group only has financial assets measured at amortised cost

Financial assets at amortised cost – These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are 
recognised in profit and loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss. 

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand, but exclude any restricted cash. 
Restricted cash is not available for use by the Group and therefore is not considered highly liquid.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits as 
defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Derecognition

A financial asset (or, when applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when either:

• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

• The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash 
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ’pass-through’ arrangement and either: (a) the Group has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it 
evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred 
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred 
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained. 

(ii) Financial liabilities – policy applicable from January 1, 2018

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, either as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or financial liabilities 
at amortised cost, as appropriate. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of financial liabilities at 
amortised cost, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables and loans and borrowings.
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6. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

6.2 Financial instruments continued

(ii) Financial liabilities – policy applicable from January 1, 2018 continued

Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as described below.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part 
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included as finance costs in profit or loss. This category generally 
applies to loans and borrowings and trade and other payables.

For loans and borrowings with a shareholder, refer to note 6.15, Transactions with a shareholder. 

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the associated obligation is discharged or cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an 
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and 
the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss, unless the transaction 
takes place with a shareholder acting in its capacity as shareholder, in which case the gain or loss is recognised directly in equity.

(iii) Share capital

Common shares

Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of common shares and share options are 
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

Treasury shares

Shares issued to subsidiaries are reflected as treasury shares on consolidation. 

When the shares recognised as equity are repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which includes directly attributable 
costs, net of any tax effects, is recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified as treasury shares and are 
presented in the treasury share reserve. When treasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount received is recognised 
as an increase in equity. 

6.3 Assets held for sale

Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, are classified as held-for-sale if it is highly probable that they 
will be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing use.

This condition will only be regarded as met if the sale transaction is highly probable and the asset is available for sale in its present 
condition. Furthermore, for the sale to be highly probable management must be committed to the plan to sell the asset and the 
transaction should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within 12 months from date of classification. Assets held 
for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying amounts and their fair value less costs to sell.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale and subsequent gains and losses on remeasurement are recognised in profit 
or loss.

Once classified as held-for-sale, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are no longer amortised or depreciated.
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6.4 Property, plant and equipment

(i) Initial recognition

Mine development and infrastructure costs are capitalised to capital work-in-progress and transferred to property, plant and equipment 
when the mining venture reaches commercial production. Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

The initial cost of an asset comprises its purchase price or construction cost, any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset into 
operation, the initial estimate of the rehabilitation obligation, and, for qualifying assets (where relevant), borrowing costs. The purchase 
price or construction cost is the aggregate amount paid and the fair value of any other consideration given to acquire the asset. 

(ii) Depreciation

From October 1, 2017, property, plant and equipment, except for mineral rights which is not depreciated, are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives which has been estimated to be the remaining care and maintenance period 
(October 1, 2017 until December 31, 2019). This change in useful lives was accounted for prospectively. Prior to that items of property, 
plant and equipment, excluding capitalised mine development and infrastructure costs, were depreciated on a straight-line basis over 
their expected useful life. Capitalised mine development and infrastructure were depreciated on a units of production basis. Units of 
production used to calculate depreciation included proved and probable reserves only. As the Bokoni Mine was placed on care and 
maintenance, all reserves were reclassified to resources. 

Depreciation is charged from the date on which the asset is available for use. 

Prior to October 1, 2017 property, plant and equipment were depreciated over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Mine development and infrastructure, including mineral rights Units of production over proved and probable reserves

Plant and equipment 1 – 30 years

Buildings 5 – 30 years

Motor vehicles 11 – 30 years

Furniture and fittings 1 – 10 years

(iii) Major maintenance and repairs

Expenditure on major maintenance refits or repairs comprises the cost of replacement assets or parts of assets and overhaul costs. 
Where an asset, or part of an asset, that was separately depreciated and is now written off is replaced, and it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group through an extended life, the expenditure is capitalised. 

Where part of the asset was not separately considered as a component and therefore not depreciated separately, the replacement 
value is used to estimate the carrying amount of the replaced asset(s) which is immediately written off. All other day-to-day maintenance 
and repairs costs are expensed as incurred.

(iv) Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is capitalised when it is probable that future economic 
benefits will flow to the Group. All other subsequent expenditure is recognised as an expense and included in profit or loss. 

(v) Derecognition

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its 
use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised. 
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6. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

6.4 Property, plant and equipment continued

(vi) Annual review of residual values, depreciation methods and useful lives

The assets’ residual value, depreciation method and useful life are reviewed at each reporting period and adjusted prospectively, 
if appropriate.

6.5 Intangible assets

(i) Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets include computer software. Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. 
The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, 
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation (calculated on a straight-line basis over their useful lives) and 
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over their useful economic lives and assessed for impairment whenever there is an 
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with 
a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern 
of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered to modify the amortisation period or method, as 
appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is 
recognised in profit or loss in the expense category that is consistent with the function of the intangible assets.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

(ii) Mineral property interests

Mineral property interests are amortised on the units of production method over proved and probable reserves and are carried at 
cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses, if any. Since Bokoni mine was placed on care and maintenance there is 
no production and the mineral property interests are not being amortised. Gains and losses on disposal of mineral property interests 
are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the cost less accumulated impairment losses of the asset and are 
recognised net within profit or loss.

6.7 Impairment of assets

Financial assets:

IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an “expected credit loss” or “ECL” model. The new impairment model applies 
to financial assets measured at amortised cost. Under IFRS 9, credit losses are recognized earlier than under IAS 39. 

For assets in the scope of the IFRS 9 impairment model, impairment losses are generally expected to increase and become 
more volatile.

The Group has determined that the application of IFRS 9’s impairment requirements as at January 1, 2018, resulted in no additional 
allowance for impairment. In assessing the allowance for impairment, the Group considered the credit quality of each individual 
counterparty.

Non-financial assets:

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other than inventories and deferred tax 
assets) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. 

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use 
that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGUs. 
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The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. Value in use is based 
on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset of CGU exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are 
recognized in profit or loss.

6.8 Inventories

Inventories, comprising of consumables and concentrate, are physically measured or estimated and valued at the lower of cost or net 
realisable value.

The cost of inventories is based on the average cost of ore in stockpiles and comprises all costs incurred to the stage immediately 
prior to stockpiling, including costs of extraction and crushing, as well as processing costs associated with ore stockpiles, based on 
the relevant stage of production.

Net realisable value is the estimated future sales price of the product the Group expects to realise when the product is processed and 
sold, less estimated costs to complete production and bring the product to sale. Where the time value of money is material, these 
future prices and costs to complete are discounted.

6.9  Employee benefits

(i) Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and 
will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans 
are recognised as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the years during which services are rendered by employees. Prepaid 
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available. Contributions 
to a defined contribution plan that are due more than 12 months after the end of the year in which the employees render the service 
are discounted to their present value.

(ii) Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided.

A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a 
present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, and the obligation 
can be estimated reliably.

(iii) Share-based payment transactions

The grant date fair value of equity-settled share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognised as an employee cost, 
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees unconditionally become entitled to the awards. The 
amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service and non-market vesting 
conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is based on the number of awards that 
meet the related service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting date.

For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant date fair value of the share-based payment is measured to 
reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences between expected and actual outcomes.

The fair value of the amount payable to employees in respect of the share appreciation rights (SARs), which are settled in cash, is 
recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in liabilities over the period that the employees unconditionally become 
entitled to payment. The liability is remeasured at each reporting date and at settlement date. Any changes in the fair value of the 
liability are recognised as employee costs in profit or loss.
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6. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

6.9 Employee benefits continued

The fair value of the share options is measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Measurement inputs include share 
price on measurement date, exercise price of the instrument, expected volatility (based on weighted average historic volatility adjusted 
for changes expected due to publicly available information), weighted average expected life of the instruments (based on historical 
experience and general option holder behavior), expected dividends, and the risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds). 
Service and non-market performance conditions attached to the transactions are not taken into account in determining fair value.

6.10 Provisions

(i) General

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that 
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed — for example, under an insurance 
contract — the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, 
the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as 
part of finance costs in profit or loss.

(ii) Environmental rehabilitation provision

Mine rehabilitation costs will be incurred by the Group either while operating, or at the end of the operating life of the Group’s facilities 
and mine properties. The Group assesses its mine rehabilitation provision at each reporting date. The Group recognises a rehabilitation 
provision where it has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, and it is probable that an outflow of resources will 
be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of obligation can be made. The nature of these restoration 
activities includes: dismantling and removing structures; rehabilitating mines and tailings dams; dismantling operating facilities; closing 
plant and waste sites; and restoring, reclaiming and revegetating affected areas.

The obligation generally arises when the asset is installed or the ground/environment is disturbed at the mining operation’s location. 
When the liability is initially recognised, the present value of the estimated costs is capitalised by increasing the carrying amount of 
the related mining assets to the extent that it was incurred as a result of the development/construction of the mine. Any rehabilitation 
obligations that arise through the production of inventory are recognised as part of the related inventory item. Additional disturbances 
which arise due to further development/construction at the mine are recognised as additions or charges to the corresponding assets 
and rehabilitation liability when they occur. Costs related to restoration of site damage (subsequent to start of commercial production) 
that is created on an ongoing basis during production are provided for at their net present values and recognised in profit or loss as 
extraction progresses.

Changes in the estimated timing of rehabilitation or changes to the estimated future costs are dealt with prospectively by recognising 
an adjustment to the rehabilitation liability and a corresponding adjustment to the asset to which it relates, if the initial estimate was 
originally recognised as part of an asset measured in accordance with IAS 16.

Any reduction in the rehabilitation liability and, therefore, any deduction from the asset to which it relates, may not exceed the carrying 
amount of that asset. If it does, any excess over the carrying value is recognised immediately in profit or loss. If the change in estimate 
results in an increase in the rehabilitation liability and, therefore, an addition to the carrying value of the asset, the Group considers 
whether this is an indication of impairment of the asset as a whole, and if so, tests for impairment. If, for mature mines, the estimate 
for the revised mine assets net of rehabilitation provisions exceeds the recoverable value, that portion of the increase is recognised in 
profit or loss.

Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the change in present value based on the discount rates that reflect current market 
assessments and the risks specific to the liability. The periodic unwinding of the discount is recognised in profit or loss as part of 
finance costs.

For closed sites, changes to estimated costs are recognised immediately in profit or loss. 
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(iii) Restructuring provision

Provisions for restructuring costs are recognised only when the general recognition criteria for provisions are met. A constructive 
obligation to restructure arises only when an entity has a detailed formal plan for the restructuring which identifies at least: the 
business or the part of the business concerned, principal locations affected, approximate number of employees that would need to 
be compensated for termination resulting from the restructuring (along with their function and location), expenditure that would be 
required to carry out the restructuring, and information as to when the plan is to be implemented. 

Furthermore, the recognition criteria also require that the entity should have raised a valid expectation among those affected by the 
restructuring that it will, in fact, carry out the restructuring by starting to implement that plan or announcing its main features to those 
affected by it. 

The restructuring provision is measured as a best estimate of the expected expense involved in the restructuring plan. Due to the short 
term nature of the provision there is no discounting of the expenses/liability.

6.11  Bokoni Environmental Rehabilitation Trust funds

Contributions to the Bokoni Environmental Rehabilitation Trust are determined on the basis of the estimated environmental obligation 
over the life of a mine. Contributions made are recognised in non-current investments and are held by the Bokoni Environmental 
Rehabilitation Trust. Interest earned on monies paid to rehabilitation trust funds is accrued on a time proportion basis and is recognised 
as finance income.

6.12  Revenue

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. The Group recognises revenue when control 
of the mine product are passed to the buyer pursuant to a sales contract, which is on delivery.

Invoices are generated at that point in time.

6.13 Finance income and finance costs

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested and interest received on financial assets. Interest income is recognised 
as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash 
payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset or liability.

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions that are recognised in profit or loss. 
Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognised in 
profit or loss using the effective interest method.

6.14  Income taxes

(i) Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from 
or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income.

Current income tax relating to items recognised in other comprehensive income or equity is recognised in other comprehensive income 
or equity and not in profit or loss. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations where 
applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

(ii) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes at the reporting date. 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017 23



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued 
for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
(Presented in Canadian Dollars, unless otherwise stated) 

6. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

6.14  Income taxes continued

Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: 

• the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss, 

• In respect of taxable temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that the group controls the timing of 
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

• In addition, deferred tax is not recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry-forward of unused tax credits and any unused tax 
losses, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised 
deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable 
that future taxable profit will be available to allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the 
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognised in other comprehensive income or equity is recognised in other comprehensive income or 
equity and not in profit or loss. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current 
tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

(iii) Royalty taxes

In addition to corporate income taxes, the Group’s consolidated financial statements also include and recognise as taxes on income, 
other types of taxes on net income.

Royalty taxes are accounted for under IAS 12 Income Taxes when they have the characteristics of an income tax. This is considered 
to be the case when they are imposed under government authority and the amount payable is based on taxable income – rather than 
physical quantities produced or as a percentage of revenue — after adjustment for temporary differences. For such arrangements, 
current and deferred income tax is provided on the same basis as described above for other forms of taxation. Obligations arising from 
royalty arrangements and other types of taxes that do not satisfy these criteria are recognised as current provisions and included in 
cost of sales. The royalty taxes payable by the Group do not meet the criteria to be treated as part of income taxes.

6.15 Transactions with a shareholder

When a transaction is with a shareholder at terms and conditions that would not be expected from a third party, it is clear that either 
the company or the shareholder obtained a benefit because of the shareholder relationship. This benefit is recognised directly in equity. 

In respect of loans with shareholders, the difference between the loan received or settled and the amount recognised at fair value on 
initial recognition or the carrying amount at settlement date, is recognised directly in equity. 

6.16 Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year’s financial statements to enhance comparability with the current year’s 
financial statements. The reclassifications are not considered material.
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and non- financial 
assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods. 
When applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that 
asset or liability.

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market observable data as far as possible. Fair values are 
recognised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:

• Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

• Level 2: inputs other than quote prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)

• Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)

The inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or liability might be categorized in different levels of fair value hierarchy, then the 
fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the same level of fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant 
to the entire measurement.

8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s principal financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables, and loans and borrowings. The main purpose of these 
financial instruments is to manage short-term cash flow. The Group’s principal financial assets comprise trade and other receivables, 
cash and cash equivalents and the environmental rehabilitation trust fund that arise directly from its operations.

The Group manages its exposure to key financial risks in accordance with its financial risk management policy. The risk management 
policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor 
risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions 
and the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined 
and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework.

Overview

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

• credit risk; and

• liquidity risk.

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and processes 
for measuring and managing risk and the Group’s management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout 
these consolidated financial statements.

(i) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers and cash and equivalents. 

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. 

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables represents sale of concentrate to RPM in terms of a concentrate off-take agreement and a tolling agreement. The 
carrying value represents the maximum credit risk exposure. The Group has no collateral against these receivables. The terms of the 
receivables are 90 days. As the mine is on care and maintenance trade receivables is nil at December 31, 2018.
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8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Overview continued

(i) Credit risk continued

100% of the Group’s revenue was generated in South Africa from sale of concentrate by Bokoni Mine to RPM and the tolling 
agreement with RPM.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Group is exposed to credit risk on the total carrying value of cash and cash equivalents. At times when the Group’s cash position 
is positive, cash deposits are made with financial institutions having superior local credit ratings.

Bokoni Environmental Rehabilitation Trust funds

The Group is exposed to credit risk on the total carrying value of the investments held in the environmental rehabilitation obligation 
funds. The Group has reduced its exposure to credit risk by dealing and investing with a limited number of major financial institutions.

(ii) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due (refer note 2). The Group ensures 
that there is sufficient capital in order to meet short term business requirements, after taking into account cash flows from operations 
and the Group’s holdings of cash and cash equivalents and available debt facilities. 

The Group operates in South Africa and is subject to currency exchange controls administered by the South African Reserve Bank 
(“SARB”). South African law provides for exchange control regulations that restrict the export of capital. The exchange control 
regulations, which are administered by SARB, regulate transactions involving South African residents, including legal entities, and limit 
a South African company’s ability to borrow from and repay loans to non-residents and to provide guarantees for the obligations of its 
affiliates with regard to funds obtained from non-residents. 

A portion of the Company’s funding for its South African operations consists of loans advanced to its South African subsidiaries from 
subsidiaries that are non-residents of South Africa. The Company is in compliance with SARB regulations and is therefore not subject 
to restrictions on the ability of its South African subsidiaries to transfer funds to the Company or to other subsidiaries. In addition, the 
SARB has introduced various measures in recent years to relax the exchange controls in South Africa to entice foreign investment in 
the country. However, if more burdensome exchange controls were proposed or adopted by the SARB in the future, or if the Company 
was unable to comply with existing SARB regulations, such exchange control regulations could restrict the ability of the Company and 
its subsidiaries to repatriate funds needed to effectively finance the Company’s operations. 

The maturity profile of the contractual undiscounted cash flows of financial instruments, including scheduled interest payments on 
loans and borrowings, at December 31, were as follows:

Non-derivative financial liabilities

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 Therafter Total

Loans and borrowings (note 19) 392,782,743 47,400,000 – – – 440,182,743
Trade and other payables 301,671 – – – – 301,671

Total 393,084,414 47,400,000 – – 440,484,414

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Thereafter Total

Loans and borrowings 69,200 399,634,837 50,755,000 – – 450,459,037
Trade and other payables 5,431,618 – – – – 5,431,618

Total 5,500,818 399,634,837 50,755,000 – – 455,890,655
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(iii) Capital risk management

The primary objective of managing the Group’s capital is to ensure that there is sufficient capital available to support the funding and 
operating requirements of the Group in a way that optimises the cost of capital, maximizes shareholders’ returns, matches the current 
strategic business plan and ensures that the Group remains in a sound financial position.

The Group manages and makes adjustments to the capital structure which consists of debt and equity as and when borrowings 
mature or when funding is required. This may take the form of raising equity, market or bank debt or hybrids thereof. The Group 
sell assets to reduce debt. Atlatsa’s ability to raise new equity in the equity capital markets is subject to the mandatory requirement 
that Atlatsa Holdings Proprietary Limited (“Atlatsa Holdings”) (formerly Pelawan Investments Proprietary Limited), its majority Black 
Economic Empowerment (“BEE“) shareholder, retain a 51% fully diluted shareholding in the Company up until December 31, 2020, as 
required by covenants given by Atlatsa Holdings and Atlatsa in favour of the DMR, the SARB and Anglo Platinum. Also refer to note 2.

(iv) Summary of the carrying value of the Group’s financial instruments

At December 31, 2018
Financial assets at 

amortised cost
Financial liabilities 

at amortised cost

Bokoni Environmental Rehabilitation Trust funds 4,906,571
Trade and other receivables 17,303
Cash and cash equivalents 1,247,768
Restricted cash 64,644
Loans and borrowings 366,385,122
Trade and other payables 301,671

At December 31, 2017
Financial assets at 

amortised cost*
Financial liabilities 
at amortised cost*

Bokoni Environmental Rehabilitation Trust funds 5,078,658
Trade and other receivables 5,189,560
Cash and cash equivalents 2,139,348
Restricted cash 61,200
Loans and borrowings 306,528,824
Trade and other payables 5,431,618

*Previously classified as loans and receivables in terms of IAS 39. The adoption of IFRS 9 had no impact on the carrying value.

(iv) Summary of the carrying value of the Group’s financial instruments continued

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities approximate their carrying value due to the short term maturity date, except for loans 
and borrowings:

2018 2017
Carrying value Fair value (level 3) Carrying value Fair value (level 3)

Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost 366,385,122 338,339,389 306,528,824 300,832,940

The contractual value of the loans and borrowings at December 31, 2018 was $440,182,743 (ZAR4,643,277,884) (2017: $450,459,037 
(ZAR4,437,582,864)).
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8. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Overview continued

(a) Valuation techniques and unobservable inputs:

The following table shows the valuation techniques used in measuring level 3 fair values:

Type Valuation technique

Loans and borrowings Discounted cash flows

(b) Key assumptions:

• JIBAR rates changing per quarter

• Cash flow assumption changes per quarter

• Drawdowns made in the quarter

• Risk based interest adjustments

9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Summary of property, plant and equipment 2018 2017

Cost
Balance at beginning of year 930,695,585 848,153,322
Additions – 5,525
Transferred from capital work-in-progress – 57,582,577
Disposals – (7,569,443)
Effect of translation (61,520,711) 32,523,604

Balance at end of year 869,174,874 930,695,585

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at beginning of year 749,342,260 528,125,423
Depreciation for the year 29,446,899 23,572,763
Impairment loss 12,505,502 180,918,162
Disposals – (7,556,387)
Effect of translation (50,155,199) 24,282,299

Balance at end of year 741,139,462 749,342,260

Carrying value 128,035,412 181,353,325
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2018 Total

Mining 
Development 

and 
Infrastructure

Plant and 
Equipment Buildings

Motor  
Vehicles

Furniture  
and Fittings

Cost
Balance at beginning of year 930,695,585 783,529,297 98,414,237 43,396,057 4,828,911 527,083
Effect of translation (61,520,711) (51,792,745) (6,505,364) (2,868,560) (319,200) (34,842)

Balance at the end of year 869,174,874 731,736,552 91,908,873 40,527,497 4,509,711 492,241

Accumulated depreciation  
and impairment losses
Balance at beginning of year 749,342,260 621,245,709 86,434,846 37,069,030 4,070,384 522,291
Depreciation for the year 29,446,899 23,559,103 4,940,608 643,856 299,452 3,880
Impairment 12,505,502 840,705 6,158,977 5,100,742 405,078 –
Effect of translation (50,155,199) (41,943,639) (5,625,558) (2,286,131) (265,203) (34,668)

Balance at end of year 741,139,462 603,701,878 91,908,873 40,527,497 4,509,711 491,503

Carrying Value 128,035,412 128,034,674 – – – 738

   

2017 Total

Mining 
Development 

and 
Infrastructure*

Plant and 
Equipment* Buildings*

Motor  
Vehicles*

Furniture and 
Fittings*

Cost

Balance at beginning of year 848,153,322 714,174,771 85,514,528 40,091,352 4,867,537 505,134

Additions 5,525 – – – – 5,525

Transferred from capital  
work-in-progress 57,582,577 48,108,180 6,772,579 2,289,139 412,679 –

Disposals (7,569,443) (6,134,031) (315,709) (499,210) (618,576) (1,917)

Effect of translation 32,523,604 27,380,377 3,442,839 1,514,776 167,271 18,341

Balance at the end of year 930,695,585 783,529,297 98,414,237 43,396,057 4,828,911 527,083

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses

Balance at beginning of year 528,125,423 467,901,848 37,279,626 18,120,682 4,325,950 497,317

Depreciation for the year  
(as previously reported) 23,572,763 18,178,159 3,293,992 1,972,300 123,637 4,675

Reallocation of depreciation* – (866,719) 615,186 209,184 42,264 85

Impairment loss  
(as previously reported) 180,918,162 159,587,813 15,215,885 6,114,464 – –

Rellication of imprairment loss * – (37,436,476) 27,443,278 9,936,636 53,147 3,415

Disposals (7,556,387) (6,287,667) (266,889) (386,399) (614,101) (1,331)

Effect of translation 24,282,299 20,168,751 2,853,768 1,102,163 139,487 18,130

Balance at end of year* 749,342,260 621,245,709 86,434,846 37,069,030 4,070,384 522,291

Carrying Value* 181,353,325 162,283,588 11,979,391 6,327,027 758,527 4,792

* Certain amounts have been reallocated, between asset categories, to correct incorrect prior year allocation. Totals remained unchanged.
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9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued

2018 Impairment

Following the identification of impairment indicators at Bokoni Mine, an impairment assessment was completed during the period, 
resulting in an impairment loss of $12,505,502 with respect to plant and equipment. The impairment loss relates to individual tangible 
assets at the mine that are no longer in use or where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying value.

The recoverable amount was based on fair value less cost of disposal (“FVLCOD”) calculated using the market approach (level 3 of 
the fair value hierarchy). Management engaged a third party valuator to determine the FVLCOD which took account of the physical 
condition and operational status of each asset. The impairment indicators relate mainly to the fact that the mine remains on care and 
maintenance.

2017 Impairment 

Following the identification of impairment indicators at Bokoni Mine, an impairment assessment was completed, resulting in an 
impairment loss of $180,918,162 with respect to property, plant and equipment. 

The recoverable amount was based on fair value less cost of disposal (“FVLCOD”) calculated using the market approach (level 3 of 
the fair value hierarchy). Management engaged a third party valuator to determine the FVLCOD which took account of the physical 
condition and operational status of each asset. The impairment indicators identified included: 

• continued depressed PGM pricing environment; 

• Bokoni Mine placed on care and maintenance; and 

• continued operational challenges at the mine resulting in operational losses and negative cash generation. 

Resource valuation

Management, with the assistance of a third-party valuator, used the market approach to calculate the FVLCOD of the mineral rights 
associated with the Bokoni Mine, with a carrying value of $128.0 million at December 31, 2018 (included as part of carrying value of 
mine development and infrastructure). As the mine was placed on care and maintenance, all reserves were reclassified to resources 
as at 31 December 2017. Key assumptions used to determine 2018 FVLCOD were:

• Total resources: 153 million ounces (2017: 153 million ounces) (as determined in terms of the SAMREC Code)

• Resources value per ounce of between $1.87 and $2.37 per ounce (2017:USD $3.95 per ounce)

The FVLCOD for the mineral rights exceeded the carrying value and as a result, the mineral rights were not impaired as  
December 31, 2018.

10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2018 2017

Cost
Balance at beginning of year 2,510,074 2,422,787
Effect of translation (165,921) 87,287

Balance at end of year 2,344,153 2,510,074

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses
Balance at beginning of year 2,321,961 2,207,695
Amortisation for the year 33,678 33,414
Effect of translation (154,731) 80,852

Balance at end of year 2,200,908 2,321,961

Carrying value 143,245 188,113

The intangible asset relates to costs associated with the implementation of a SAP system throughout the Group during 2011. The asset 
is amortised on a straight line basis over ten years.
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11. MINERAL PROPERTY INTERESTS

2018 2017

Cost
Balance at beginning of year 3,418,046 7,523,862
Transfer to asset held for sale (note 15) – (4,200,000)
Effect of translation (233,618) 94,184

Balance at end of year 3,184,428 3,418,046

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses
Balance at beginning of year 486,662 422,158
Amortisation for the year – 19,976
Effect of translation (141,389) 44,528

Balance at end of year 345,273 486,662

Carrying value 2,839,155 2,931,384

The Group’s mineral property interest consists of various early stage exploration projects as detailed below:

(i) Ga-Phasha

The mineral title relating to the Ga-Phasha Project was previously held by Ga-Pasha Platinum Mines Proprietary Limited (“Ga-Phasha”).

On December 13, 2013, the Company sold two (Paschaskraal and De Kamp) of the four farms in Ga-Phasha to Rustenburg Platinum 
Mines Limited as part of the refinancing and restructuring plan of the Group, at the time, and the Klipfontein and Avoca farms were 
incorporated into Bokoni Mine.

12. BOKONI ENVIRONMENTAL REHABILITATION TRUST FUNDS
The Group contributes to the Bokoni Environmental Rehabilitation Trust. The Trust was created to fund the estimated cost of pollution 
control, rehabilitation and mine closure at the end of the lives of the Group’s mines. Contributions are determined on the basis of the 
estimated environmental obligation over the remaining period of the mining right. The cash deposits made is reflected in non-current 
cash deposits held by the Bokoni Environmental Rehabilitation Trust. 

2018 2017

Balance at beginning of year 5,078,658 4,487,196

Contributions – 240,869

Growth in environmental trust 169,905 172,672

Effect of translation (341,992) 177,921

Balance at end of year 4,906,571 5,078,658

The non-current cash deposits are restricted in use as it is to be used exclusively for pollution control, rehabilitation and mine closure 
at the end of lives of the Group’s mines. Any shortfall is covered by guarantees issued by RPM. Total value of guarantees issued by 
RPM is $26.1 million at December 31, 2018.

13. INVENTORIES
2018 2017

Finished product – stock concentrate – 400,167
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14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2018 2017

Financial assets
Trade receivables – 1,379,147
Employee receivables – 6,354
Other receivables 17,303 860,053
Related party receivable – RPM – 2,944,006

17,303 5,189,560

Non-financial assets

Prepayments 887,619 843,132
Sundry debtor 88,557 8,510
Value added tax 943,389 2,338,456

Total trade and other receivables 1,936,868 8,379,658

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are on terms of 90 days. The Group had one major customer, being RPM, and with the 
mine being on care and maintenance, the outstanding balance is $Nil at December 31, 2018.

15. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

2018 2017

Kwanda North and Central Block Prospecting Rights 4,200,000 4,200,000

As described more fully in note 2, Atlatsa is seeking to implement the Composite Transaction by way of a plan of arrangement. 
Included in the Composite Transaction is the Prospecting Rights Disposition whereby Anglo American Platinum is to acquire the 
Central Block and Kwanda North prospecting rights for a cash purchase consideration of $28.4 million (ZAR300.0 million).

On December 12, 2018, the Department of Mineral Resources of South Africa granted approval and consent for the Prospecting 
Rights Disposition in terms of sections 11 and 102 of the South African Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development Act, No. 28 
of 2002.

The Composite Transaction remains subject to the fulfilment, satisfaction or waiver (to the extent permitted) of, inter alia, the following 
suspensive conditions:

• approval from the exchange control authorities of the South African Reserve Bank for the transactions contemplated in the Plan of 
Arrangement, either unconditionally or subject to such conditions as Atlatsa confirms to RPM in writing to be acceptable to Atlatsa; 

• the required Shareholder approvals being obtained;

• the Supreme Court of British Columbia granting the final order, and in the event of an appeal or application for leave to appeal, final 
determination shall have been made by the applicable appellate court; and

• other conditions to effectiveness typical for a transaction of this nature.

Management believes that the above conditions precedent will be met within 12 months from the reporting date.

16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2018 2017

Bank balances 1,247,768 2,139,348

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. 

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise only the above balances.
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17. RESTRICTED CASH

2018 2017

ESOP Trust 64,644 61,200

Restricted cash consists of cash and cash equivalents held by the Bokoni Platinum Mine Employee Share Ownership Plan (“ESOP”) 
Trust. The reserve is not available to finance the Group’s day-to-day operations and therefore has been excluded from cash and cash 
equivalents for purposes of the statement of cash flows.

During the year, there were no distributions to beneficiaries in terms of the trust deed (2017: $NIL).

18. SHARE CAPITAL
Authorised and issued

Number of shares

2018 2017

Common shares with no par value 554,421,806 554,421,806

The Company’s authorised share capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares without par value. 

Share capital   

2018 2017

Share capital 311,874,472 311,874,472
Share issue costs (2,183,033) (2,183,033)

309,691,439 309,691,439

Treasury shares 4,991,726 4,991,726

Treasury shares relate to 4,497,062 shares held by the ESOP Trust in Atlatsa, which is consolidated by the Group.

19. LOANS AND BORROWINGS

2018 2017

RPM – Senior Facilities Agreement (related party) (i) 140,632,323 122,917,093
RPM – Working Capital Facility (related party) (ii) 7,352,454 8,498,142
RPM – Term Loan Facility (related party) (iii) 71,485,219 62,746,072
RPM – Shareholder Loan (related party) (iv) 108,697,084 88,238,305
RPM – Care and Maintenance Term Loan Facility (v) 36,268,429 24,060,012
RPM – Transaction Cost Facility (vi) 1,880,413 –
Other 69,200 69,200

366,385,122 306,528,824
RPM – Senior Facilities Agreement (related party) (i) (47,400,000) (122,917,093)
RPM – Working Capital Facility (related party) (ii) – (8,498,142)
RPM – Term Loan Facility (related party) (iii) – (62,746,072)
RPM – Shareholder Loan (related party) (iv) – (88,238,305)
RPM – Care and Maintenance Term Loan Facility (v) – (24,060,012)

Short-term portion of loans and borrowings 318,985,122 69,200

Long-term portion of loans and borrowings 47,400,000 306,459,624
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19. LOANS AND BORROWINGS continued

The carrying value of the Group’s loans and borrowings changed during the year as follows:

Note 2018 2017

Balance at beginning of the year 306,528,824 209,441,020
Loan from RPM – Term Loan Facility Drawdowns (iii) – 36,372,068
Loan from RPM – Shareholder Loan Drawdowns (iv) 9,985,787 65,986,127
Loan from RPM – Care and Maintenance Drawdowns (v) 10,804,445 32,307,370
Loan from RPM – Transaction Cost Facility Drawdowns (vi) 2,522,064 –
Repayment of loan from RPM – Transaction Cost Facility (vi) (194,504) –
Repayment of loan from RPM – Working Capital Facility (ii) (2,697,870) –
Finance expenses accrued 28 68,221,985 41,612,907
Fair value on Senior Facilities Agreement (i) – (6,121,845)
Fair value on Term Loan Facility (ii) – (24,542,152)
Fair value on Working Capital Facility (ii) 378,123 (4,379,073)
Fair value on Shareholder Loan (iv) (2,496,347) (44,076,904)
Fair value on Care and Maintenance Facility (v) (2,691,080) (10,949,159)
Fair value on Transaction Cost Facility (vi) (538,630) –
Effect of translation (23,437,675) 10,878,465

Balance at end of the year 366,385,122 306,528,824

The Group’s debt is denominated in ZAR.

Following the Debt Standstill (refer note 2), the servicing and repayment of all loans and borrowings owing to RPM, a related party, 
have been suspended until December 31, 2019. The Debt Standstill triggered the derecognition of all loans and borrowings to RPM. 
The contractual amount as at July 21, 2017 was fair valued as a new interest free loan with a repayment date of December 31, 2019, 
and a new day 1 fair value was recorded in equity for all loans owing to RPM during 2017. For all new drawdowns a day 1 fair value is 
calculated using a discounted cash flow model. The day 1 fair value is recorded in the fair value reserve in equity. The implicit interest 
on all loans outstanding is unwound and recognised as finance costs in the statement of comprehensive income. 

The terms and conditions for the outstanding borrowings at December 31, 2018 are as follows:

(i) RPM – Senior Facilities Agreement

As at December 31, 2018, the facility under the Senior Facilities Agreement and the total contractual balance outstanding was  
$173.1 million (ZAR1,826 million) (December 31, 2017: $185.4 million (ZAR1,826 million)).

$125.7 million of this facility is repayable as per the “Debt Standstill” with the remaining $47.4 million (ZAR500 million) payable by 
December 31, 2020.

(ii) RPM – Working Capital Facility

As at December 31, 2018, the outstanding contractual balance was $8.7 million (ZAR91.5 million) (December 31, 2017: $12.2 million 
(ZAR120.5 million)). During December 2018, a repayment of $2.7 million (ZAR 29.0 million) was made against this facility as agreed 
to between the parties.

This facility is repayable, as per the “Debt Standstill Period” in full by December 31, 2019.
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(iii) RPM – Term Loan Facility Agreement

As at December 31, 2018, the outstanding contractual balance was $84.4 million (ZAR890 million) (December 31, 2017: $90.3 million 
(ZAR890 million)).

This facility was fully drawn on July 26, 2017. 

This facility is repayable, as per the “Debt Standstill Period” in full by December 31, 2019.

(iv) RPM – Shareholder loan

RPM is obliged to meet its 49% share of the cash call in accordance with the joint venture shareholders’ agreement between 
the parties. As at December 31, 2018, the outstanding contractual balance on the loan was $128.6 million (ZAR1,356 million) 
(December 31, 2017: $127.4 million (ZAR 1,255 million)). 

This facility is repayable, as per the “Debt Standstill Period” in full by December 31, 2019.

(v) RPM – Care and Maintenance Term Loan Facility

The Care and Maintenance Term Loan Facility was entered into on October 12, 2017 between Plateau (as borrower) and RPM (as 
lender) for $49.4 million (ZAR521 million) to enable the Group to fund its share of all costs associated with the care and maintenance 
process described in Phase 1. As at December 31, 2018, drawdowns of $43.1 million (ZAR454.8 million) have been made against the 
facility (December 31, 2017: $35.0 million (ZAR345.0 million)) and this also represents the outstanding contractual balance on the loan. 

This facility is repayable in full by December 31, 2019 in accordance with the terms of the “Debt Standstill Period”. 

(vi) RPM – Transaction Cost Facility

The Transaction Cost Facility of $4.7 million (ZAR50.0 million) was entered on April 16, 2018 to allow the Group to fund the costs 
of implementing Phase 2. As at December 31, 2018, drawdowns of $2.4 million (ZAR25.6 million) have been made against this facility. 
Repayments relating to VAT refunds on transaction costs of $0.2 million (ZAR 1.9 million) have been made in terms of the Transaction 
Cost Facility as at December 31, 2018. As at December 31, 2018, the outstanding contractual balance on the loan is $2.2 million 
(ZAR23.6 million) (December 31, 2017: $Nil)

This facility is repayable in full by December 31, 2019 in accordance with the terms of the “Debt Standstill Period”.

Security

The Senior Facilities Agreement was secured through various security instruments, guarantees and undertakings provided by the 
Group against 51% of the cash flows generated by the Bokoni Mine, together with 51% of the Bokoni Mine asset base. 

Atlatsa Holdings will provide security to RPM in relation to the Atlatsa Holdings Vendor Finance Loan by way of a pledge and cession 
of its entire shareholding in Atlatsa, which shares remain subject to a lock-in arrangement through to 2020. Should Atlatsa Holdings 
be unable to meet its minimum repayment commitments under the Atlatsa Holdings Vendor Finance Loan between 2018 to 2020, 
Atlatsa will have a discretionary right, with no obligation, to step in and remedy such obligation in order to protect its BEE shareholding 
status, subject to commercial terms being agreed between Atlatsa Holdings and Atlatsa for that purpose and receipt of the necessary 
regulatory and shareholder approvals. Also refer to note 2 for details on the Composite Transaction.
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20. DEFERRED TAX
Deferred tax liabilities and assets on the statement of financial position relate to the following:

2018 2017

Deferred tax liabilities
Property plant and equipment 34,964,497 49,101,621
Prepayments 252,172 182,933
Environmental trust fund contributions 1,084,645 1,098,331

Total deferred tax liability 36,301,314 50,382,885
Deferred tax assets
Provision for environmental liabilities (3,376,365) (3,298,123)
Unredeemed capital expenditure (143,927,521) (146,158,505)
Accrual for employee leave liabilities and retention cost (6,904) (54,596)
Calculated tax losses (64,298,773) (84,429,161)
Deferred tax asset not recognized 213,589,471 223,851,271
Foreign exchange losses (3,352,500) (2,657,330)
Other items (81,155) (322,343)

Total deferred tax asset (1,453,747) (13,068,787)

Net deferred tax liability 34,847,567 37,314,098

The movement in the net deferred tax liability recognised in the  
statement of financial position is as follows:
Balance at beginning of year 37,314,098 43,766,975
Current year – (7,725,949)
Effect of translation (2,466,531) 1,273,072

34,847,567 37,314,098

As at December 31, the Group had not recognised the following net deferred tax assets:
Deferred tax assets 213,589,471 223,851,271
The unrecognised temporary differences are:
Unredeemed capital expenditure 143,927,521 146,158,505
Tax losses 64,298,773 84,429,161
Other temporary differences 2,010,677 (9,393,725)
Foreign exchange losses 3,352,500 2,657,330

213,589,471 223,851,271

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised for the above temporary differences as it is not probable that the respective Group 
entities to which they relate will generate future taxable income against which to utilise the temporary differences.
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Gross calculated tax losses expire as follows:

2018 2017

2018-2019 – (2,290,393)
2026-2038* (14,059,439) (12,044,957)
Indefinitely** (229,638,476) (291,389,128)

(243,697,915) (305,724,478)

* Relates to tax losses in Canada that have a 20 year carry forward period.
** Relates to South African tax losses in the South African entities.

21. REHABILITATION PROVISION

2018 2017

Rehabilitation provision
Balance at beginning of the year 11,779,011 18,525,083
Rehabilitation work completed – (5,543,403)
Unwinding of interest 900,495 1,399,156
Recognised in profit or loss 198,180 (2,988,799)
Effect of translation (819,240) 386,974

Balance at end of year 12,058,446 11,779,011

Future net obligations
Undiscounted rehabilitation cost 22,493,717 21,374,500
Amount invested in environmental trust funds (refer note 12) (4,906,571) (5,078,658)

Total future net obligation – Undiscounted 17,587,146 16,295,842

The Group makes full provision for the future cost of rehabilitating mine sites and related production facilities on a discounted basis at 
the time of developing the mines and installing those facilities.

Key assumptions used in determining the provision:

2018 2017

Discount period – remaining period for mining right 20.5 years 21.5 years
South African discount rate (risk free rate) 8.9% 8.6%
South African inflation 5.5% 5.5%

The method used in the sensitivity analysis is to assume a change in basis points.  
The change in basis point is applied to one variable while the other variable remains constant.

Sensitivity – increase/(decrease) in provision

Inflation rate 
(discount rate 

constant)

Inflation rate 
(discount rate 

constant)

1% increase 2,642,032 2,106,858
1% decrease (1,312,584) (2,591,964)

Sensitivity – increase/(decrease) in provision

Discount rate 
(inflation rate 

constant)

Discount rate 
(inflation rate 

constant)

1% increase (2,060,514) (2,716,919)
1% decrease 2,510,337 2,226,597

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017 37



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued 
for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
(Presented in Canadian Dollars, unless otherwise stated) 

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2018 2017

Financial liabilities
Trade payables 233,021 2,198,827
Amounts owed to Related Parties 34,144 29,807
Other payables 34,506 3,202,984

301,671 5,431,618
Non-financial liabilities
Payroll accruals 216,144 155,410
Leave liabilities 24,658 144,635
Other accruals 1,967,393 63,142
Value added tax – 594,611

Total trade and other payables 2,509,866 6,389,416

Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms. 

23. RESTRUCTURING PROVISION

2018 2017

Opening balance 956,491 653,573
Provision created/(reversed) 178 33,859,355
Provision utilized (927,742) (33,590,552)
Effect of translation (28,927) 34,115

Balance at the end of the year – 956,491

On July 21, 2017 the Group announced the implementation of the Restructure Plan as discussed in note 2. The Restructuring provision 
includes costs associated with a significant labour restructuring, legal, human resources and security related charges associated 
directly with the restructuring. The provision was fully utilised during 2018.

24. REVENUE
Revenue from mining operations by commodity: 

2018 2017

Platinum – 56,001,276
Palladium – 34,306,554
Rhodium – 6,680,213
Nickel – 7,671,045
Other Commodities 478,256 9,619,279

Sale of Concentrate 478,256 114,278,367
Tolling 5,048,633 2,250,767

Total revenue 5,526,889 116,529,134

Revenue consists of the sale of concentrate to RPM (a related party), as well as tolling revenue received from RPM.
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2018 2017

25. COST OF SALES
Cost of sales includes:
Labour 1,315,729 68,586,634
Stores 1,042,926 34,692,667
Power and compressed air 1,083,859 11,997,567
Contractors cost – 13,876,892
Other costs 754,580 27,541,434
Cost of Sales before inventory movement and depreciation 4,197,094 156,695,194
Inventory movement – 15,466
Depreciation 5,364,517 23,621,476

Total cost of sales 9,561,611 180,332,136

26. OTHER INCOME
Components of other income:
Rental income 6,645 11,894
Other fee income – 206,830

6,645 218,724

27. FINANCE INCOME
Financial assets at amortised cost
Bokoni Environmental Rehabilitation Trust funds 169,905 172,672
Bank accounts 61,632 186,599

231,537 359,271

Movements in interest rates would not have a material impact on finance income.

28. FINANCE COSTS
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Effective interest on loans and borrowings 68,221,985 41,612,906
Other 610 132

68,222,595 41,613,038

Non-financial liabilities
Notional interest – rehabilitation provision 900,495 1,399,156

Total finance costs 69,123,090 43,012,194

29. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX
Loss before income tax as stated includes the following:
Operating lease expense – buildings – 135,253
Share-based payment expense – equity settled – 557,714
Share-based payment expense – cash settled – (986,870)

Depreciation and amortization 29,480,577 23,621,935

30. INCOME TAX
SA normal taxation
SA normal taxation (1,297) –
Deferred tax – current year – (7,725,949)

(1,297) (7,725,949)
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% %

Tax rate reconciliation

Statutory Canadian tax rate (27.00) (26.00)
Non-deductible expenditure* 15.89 3.26
Deferred tax assets not recognized 11.11 25.16

Effective taxation rate 0.00 2.42

The Statutory Canadian tax rate was increased from 26% to 27% for the year-ended December 31, 2018.

*Non-deductible expenditure comprise mainly of the effective interest on loans and borrowings.

31. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2018 was based on the loss attributable to owners 
of the Company of $94,051,201 (2017: $198,630,402), and a weighted average number of common shares of 549,924,744 
(2017: 549,924,744). 

2018 2017

Issued common shares net of treasury shares at January 1 549,924,744 549,924,744
Weighted average number of common shares at December 31 549,924,744 549,924,744

The basic loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2018 was 17 cents (2017: 36 cents) 

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2018 was based on the loss attributable to 
owners of the Company of $94,051,201 (2017: $198,630,402), and a weighted average number of common shares of 549,924,744 
(2017: 549,924,744). 

At December 31, 2018 and 2017 share options were excluded in determining diluted weighted average number of common shares 
as all the options were anti-dilutive. 

2018 2017

Issued common shares net of treasury shares at January 1 549,924,744 549,924,744
Weighted average number of common shares at December 31 549,924,744 549,924,744

The diluted loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2018 was 17 cents (2017: 36 cents) 

32. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group has two reportable segments as described below (unchanged from 2017). These segments are managed separately based 
on the nature of operations. For each of the segments, the Group’s CEO (the Group’s chief operating decision maker or “CODM”) 
reviews internal management reports. The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

• Bokoni Mine – Mine on care and maintenance (refer note 2).

• Projects – Mining exploration in Kwanda exploration projects. 

30. INCOME TAX continued
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During quarter four of 2018, management reevaluated the appropriate measures of operating performance of the Group’s two reporting 
segments given the changes in operations during the last 12 months, as discussed in note 2, and concluded:

• Bokoni Mine has been placed on care and maintenance and the CODM’s focus now, is on the costs incurred related to care and 
maintenance activities and the funding thereof, as discussed in note 2, which is reflected in the statement of comprehensive income 
and the statement of cash flows, respectively. The revenues generated by the mine (refer note 24) and related costs of sales (refer 
below) were previously some of the key operating performance measures while the mine was still in operation but are no longer 
considered appropriate given the current state of activity at the mine. In addition, Bokoni Mine has fully impaired its property, plant 
and equipment, other than for the mineral right where mining operations previously took place (refer note 9). 

• There are currently no revenues or expenses incurred by the Projects and the only assets relate to the assets held for sale  
(refer note 15).

The general and administrative expenses per the statement of comprehensive income relate to the Group’s overhead costs.

2018 2017

Cost of sales
Bokoni Mine 6,237,400 177,082,351
Corporate and consolidation adjustments 3,324,211 3,249,785

Consolidated 9,561,611 180,332,136

Care and maintenance costs
Costs excluding depreciation 18,846,709 –
Depreciation 24,477,379 –

Consolidated 43,324,088 –

The comparatives have been restated to conform with the current year presentation. 

33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 
33.1 Equity-settled 

33.1.1 Stock options

The Group has a share option plan approved by the shareholders that allows it to grant options, subject to regulatory terms and 
approval, to its directors, employees, officers, and consultants to acquire up to 55,442,181 (2017: 55,442,181) common shares. As at 
December 31, 2018, 4,452,047 options were outstanding, and 14,560,427 options remained available to be granted. The exercise 
price of each option is set by the Board of Directors at the time of grant but cannot be less than the market price (less permissible 
discounts) on the TSX. Options have a term of up to a maximum of ten years (however, the Company has historically granted 
options for up to a term of five years) and terminate 30 to 90 days following the termination of the optionee’s employment or term of 
engagement, except in the case of retirement or death. Vesting of options is at the discretion of the Board of Directors at the time the 
options are granted. There were no new grants during 2018.
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33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS continued

33.1 Equity-settled continued

33.1.1 Stock options continued

Options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2018 were as follows: 

Expiry date 
Option  

price

Number of  
options 

outstanding 

Number of  
options  
vested 

Weighted  
average life  

(years) 

August 19, 2024 $0.39 4,452,047 4,452,047 6.64
Weighted average exercise price $ 0.39 $ 0.39

The share-based payments expense recognised during the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 was $Nil. 

33.1.2 Bokoni Platinum Mine ESOP trust

Prior to the acquisition of Bokoni Mine on July 1, 2009, certain employees of Bokoni Mine were part of the Anglo Group Employee 
Empowerment Scheme (“Kotula Scheme”). When Atlatsa acquired Bokoni Mine, Anglo Platinum and Atlatsa replaced the Kotula 
Scheme with the Bokoni Platinum Mine ESOP Trust (“ESOP Trust”), which has similar participation benefits to the Kotula Scheme.

The purpose of the ESOP Trust scheme is to incentivise and retain employees, promote BEE and increase broad-based and effective 
participation in the equity of Atlatsa by historically disadvantaged persons. The ESOP Trust holds and utilises ordinary shares in Atlatsa 
(refer note 18) for the benefit of the beneficiaries.

On May 16, 2015 all ordinary distribution shares vested. The ESOP trustees agreed to purchase the distribution shares of all active 
employees as at June 12, 2015 at a share price of ZAR2,65 per share. That represented a 54% premium to the market price. A total 
pre-tax amount of ZAR12.0 million was distributed to beneficiaries. The shares remain in the custody of the ESOP trust. 

Atlatsa recognises the value added by employee beneficiaries at Bokoni Mine and has agreed that it is in the best interest of the 
mine and its stakeholders for employees to remain as long term shareholders of Bokoni Mine. It has been agreed that Bokoni Mine 
will establish a special purpose trust for the future benefit of Bokoni Mine employees. The shares in custody will be transferred to the 
special purpose trust. As at December 31, 2018 the special purpose trust had not yet been formed.

34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Deep Groundwater Pollution

Bokoni Mine has identified a future pollution risk posed by deep groundwater in certain underground shafts. Various studies have been 
undertaken by the mine since 2012. In view of the documentation of current information for the accurate estimation of the liability, 
we are unable to quantify the extent of pollution or its source, if any. As such the criteria in IAS 37 for recognizing a liability have not 
been met.

Litigation claims

There are pending litigation claims at year end to which Bokoni Mine is a defendant. The Group is the subject of various legal claims 
which are individually immaterial and are not expected in aggregate, to result in material losses.
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35. RELATED PARTIES
Relationships

Related party Nature of relationship

RPM The Group concluded a number of shared services agreements 
between Bokoni Mine and RPM, a wholly owned subsidiary of 
Anglo American Platinum and a 49% shareholder in Bokoni Holdco. 
Pursuant to the terms of various shared services agreements, the 
Anglo American Platinum group of companies continue to provide 
certain services to Bokoni Mine at a cost that is no greater than 
the costs charged to any other Anglo American Platinum group 
company for the same or similar services. RPM also provides 
debt funding to the Group and purchases all of the Group’s PGM 
concentrate. RPM also has a 22.55% shareholding in Atlatsa.

ATH ATH is the Company’s controlling shareholder.

Key management All directors directly involved in the Group and certain members of 
top management at Bokoni Mine and Plateau.

Gara Valley Investments At the completion of Phase 1, three executive directors were 
engaged as consultants to ensure that Phase 2 is successfully 
implemented. These services are being performed through these 
companies which are seen as related parties.

Tomahawk Investments

Preyeso Trading Pty Ltd 
(Collectively “Key Management Companies”)

Refer note 2 for the going concern assessment and the involvement of RPM and Anglo American Platinum in the composite transaction 
and the funding of the Group.

2018 2017

Related party balances
RPM Loans and borrowings (refer note 19) (366,315,922) (306,459,624)

Trade and other payables (48,027) (1,425,239)
Trade and other receivables – 4,323,153

Related party transactions
RPM Revenue (refer note 24) 5,526,889 116,529,134

Administration expenses 95,866 9,699,598
Purchases 1,577,207 26,660,441

Key Management Companies Consulting fees 451,019 –

Key management compensation: 

2018 2017

Remuneration for executive directors and key management
•  Salaries 498,293 2,637,140
•  Key management remuneration 451,019 – 
•  Short-term benefits 36,089 619,056
•  Share-based payments – 34,325
•  Remuneration for non-executive directors 301,049 305,999
•  Retrenchment costs 927,742 1,225,684
•  Leave encashment 116,709 –

Total key management compensation 2,330,901 4,822,204
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36. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
There were no events of a material nature that have occurred between the reporting date and March 31 2019, except for those 
mentioned in note 2.

37. EMPLOYEE COSTS
Employee costs included in loss for the year are as follows:

2018 2017

Salaries and wages and other benefits 6,711,238 70,768,378
Retirement benefit costs 18,819 139,291
Medical aid contributions 75,730 20,206
Employment termination cost 178 33,859,355
Share-based payments – equity-settled – 557,714
Share-based payments – cash-settled – (986,870)

Total employee costs 6,805,965 104,358,074

38. GROUP ENTITIES
The following are the shareholdings of the Company in the various group entities: 

Company Country of Incorporation
2018

%
2017

%

N1C Resources Incorporation Cayman Islands 100 100
N2C Resources Incorporation* Cayman Islands 100 100
Plateau Resources Proprietary Limited* South Africa 100 100
Bokoni Holdings Proprietary Limited* South Africa 51 51
Bokoni Mine Proprietary Limited* South Africa 51 51
Boikgantsho Proprietary Limited*# South Africa 51 51
Kwanda Proprietary Limited*# South Africa 51 51
Ga-Phasha Proprietary Limited*# South Africa 51 51
Lebowa Platinum Mine Limited*# South Africa 51 51

The following are the structured entities in the group:
Bokoni Platinum Mine ESOP trust (“ESOP Trust”)** South Africa Consolidated 

structured entity
Consolidated 

structured entity
Bokoni Environmental Rehabilitation Trust*** South Africa Consolidated 

structured entity
Consolidated 

structured entity
Bokoni Platinum Mine Community Trust 
(“Community Trust”)****

South Africa Unconsolidated 
structured entity

Unconsolidated 
structured entity

* Indirectly held.

# These entities are dormant.   

**  The Group provided the funding through Bokoni Mine to construct the trust and purchase shares in Atlatsa, but is not required to provide any further 
financial support to this entity. The purpose of the Trust is to facilitate a share-based payment arrangement on behalf of the group. Atlatsa has the 
right to appoint one trustee, who has the right to reject any decision made by the other trustees. Atlatsa therefore has power over the trust. 

***  The Group has power over the trust, as the trustees are executive management of Atlatsa. All the cash resources kept by the trust is on behalf of 
Atlatsa, to be later utilised against any rehabilitation and decommissioning incurred. 

****  As per the requirements of IFRS 10, we have considered the purpose and objective of the trust, and the Group has concluded that the power over 
the investee, exposure or rights to variable returns and the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s return does 
not reside with Atlatsa. This is due to Atlatsa having the right to appoint one trustee of the trust, but do not have the deciding vote, Atlatsa has no 
interest in/or power over the operations of the trust. The Group is also not required to provide any financial support to the trust. 
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39. NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST
The only non-controlling interest is the 49% shareholding of RPM in Bokoni Holdco. Bokoni Holdco owns the Group’s various mineral 
property interests and operations are conducted in the Republic of South Africa in the Bushveld Complex.

Note 2018 2017

Non-controlling interest roll forward
Balance beginning of year (153,485,221) (32,726,455)
Loss for the year (39,972,474) (115,889,161)
Total other comprehensive income for the year 11,087,477 (4,869,605)

Balance at end of year (182,370,218) (153,485,221)

The following is summarised financial information for the Bokoni Holdco subgroup, 
prepared in accordance with IFRS. 
Non-current assets 331,663,439 396,302,781
Current assets 4,304,655 11,516,492
Current liabilities (245,373,616) (238,627,943)

Net assets 78,536,033 169,191,330

Revenue 5,526,889 116,529,134

Total comprehensive income (*) (82,674,786) (234,829,451)

Cash flows from operating activities (18,593,765) (98,809,375)
Cash flows from investment activities (40,549,009)
Cash flows from financing activities 17,915,970 135,584,234
Effect of translation 25,063 (148,385)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (652,733) (3,922,535)

* As Bokoni Holdco has no other comprehensive income, total comprehensive income is therefore equal to the loss for the year.
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* Black Economic Empowerment.
** ESOP Trust is consolidated into the Company.
# Dormant from December 13, 2013.
^ Bokoni Environmental Rehabilitation Trust is consolidated into Bokoni.

ATH
ESOP Trust and 

Community Trust 
(BEE)*

Minority Shareholders 
(publicly-traded) RPM

ATL

Plateau

Kwanda BPM

BPH

Central Block
Prospecting Right

Kwanda
Prospecting Right

Bokoni Mine

61.85%

Loan to AtH of C$48m

2.58% 13.02% 22.55%

49%

100%

51%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Loan facility to 
plateau of  

C$298m

Shareholder 
loan of  

C$118m

Shareholder 
loan of  

C$124m

GROUP ORGANOGRAM
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40. HEADLINE AND DILUTED HEADLINE EARNINGS PER SHARE
Headline earnings per share is calculated by dividing headline earnings attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period. Diluted headline earnings per share is determined by adjusting the 
headline earnings attributable to owners of the Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the 
period, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise share options granted to employees.

Headline earnings per share

The calculation of headline loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2018 of 16 cents (2017: 16 cents) is based on headline 
loss of $88,564,955 (2017: $90,531,173) and a weighted average number of shares of 549,924,744 (2017: 549,924,744).

The following adjustments to profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company were considered in the calculation of headline loss 
attributable to owners of the Company:

2018 2017

Loss attributable to shareholders of the Company (94,051,201) (198,630,402)
•  Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 7,196
•  Impairment of property, plant and equipment 12,505,502 180,918,162
•  Tax effect – (7,183,879)
Total non-controlling interest effects of adjustments (7,019,256) (65,642,250)

Headline loss attributable to owners of the Company (88,564,955) (90,531,173)

Diluted headline earnings per share

The calculation of diluted headline loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2018 of 16 cents (2017: 16 cents) is based on 
headline loss of $88,564,955 (2017: $90,531,173) and a weighted average number of shares of 549,924,744 (2017: 549,924,744).

At December 31, 2018 and 2017, share options were excluded in determining diluted weighted average number of common shares 
as all the options were anti-dilutive.

Refer to note 31 for the calculation of the weighted average number of shares.
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South African head office

2nd Floor, 
North Wing – The Business Exchange 
90 Rivonia Road
Sandton, Johannesburg
South Africa, 2146
Tel:  +27 (0)10 286 1166

Canadian head office

Suite 1700, Park Place,
666 Burrard Street,
Vancouver
Canada BC V6C 2X8
Tel:  +1 (604) 631 1300/1306
Fax:  +1 (604) 681 1825

Corporate information and administration
For further information or particular queries, please contact  
Joel Kesler at the Atlatsa South African head office.
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